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L Introduction

The evidence presented at trial overwhelmingly established the defendants’ participation
in a large number of heinous and violent crimes, including eight murders. While serving as New
York City police detectives, the defendants used their badges not in service of the public, but in
aid of organized crime. They kidnaped, murdered, and assisted kidnapers and murderers, all the
while sworn to protect the public against such crimes.

Nevertheless, an extended trial, evidentiary hearings, briefings and argument establishes
that the five-year statute of limitations mandates granting the defendants a judgment of acquittal
on the key charge against them—racketeering conspiracy. As a result of spillover prejudice
resulting from the trial of that charge with other crimes charged in the indictment, defendants are

entitled to a new trial on the remaining charges.

I1. Facts and Procedural History

A. Arrest and Indictment

After a lengthy investigation, defendants Louis Eppolito and Stephen Caracappa were
indicted on March 9, 2005 and arrested in Las Vegas, Nevada. In a series of superseding
indictments, they were charged with participating in a racketeering conspiracy in violation of
section 1962(d) of Title 18 of the United States Code (“RICO”). The wide-ranging conspiracy
described in the final superseding indictment was alleged to have begun in New York City in the
early 1980s and continued in Las Vegas until the date of the defendants’ arrest in 2005.

The charged enterprise consisted of the two defendants, three members and associates of

organized crime—Frank Santoro, Jr.; Burton Kaplan; and Anthony Casso—and unnamed others.
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Its purpose was to generate money for its members and associates through legal and illegal
means. According to the allegations in the final superseding indictment, the members and
associates of the enterprise sought to:

a. Enrich members and associates of the Enterprise through

assisting La Cosa Nostra (“LCN”), a nationwide criminal

organization that engaged in, and the activities of which affected,

interstate and foreign commerce;

b. Preserve and protect the ability of the Enterprise to enrich

its members and associates through the use and abuse of the

facilities of the New York City Police Department;

c. Promote and enhance the criminal activities of the
Enterprise and its members and associates; and

d. Keep victims and others in fear of the Enterprise and its
members and associates through violence, intimidation, abuse of
positions of trust and threats of violence.

Alleged were seventeen predicate acts creating a pattern of racketeering activity,
Fourteen of the racketeering acts—charges of murder, murder for hire, kidnaping, bribery,
criminal facilitation, tampering with and retaliating against informants, and obstruction of
Justice—occurred in New York City between 1986 and 1991, while one or both of the
defendants were members of the New York City police department (“the New York acts™). Of
the remainder (“the Nevada acts™), one act—conspiracy to engage in unlawful monetary
transactions, charged against defendant Eppolito alone—took place in Las Vegas between 1994
and 1996, The final three racketeering acts—money laundering, conspiracy to distribute
narcotics, and distribution of narcotics—occurred in Las Vegas in 2004 and 2005.

The last three Nevada acts were duplicated as substantive counts. Defendant Eppolito
was charged with money laundering in violation of section 1956(a)(3}(B) of Title 18 of the
United States Code. Both defendants were charged with conspiracy to distribute and distribution

6
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of methamphetamine in violation of sections 846 and 841(a) of Title 21 of the United States
Code.
A copy of the final superseding indictment is included as an appendix to this

memorandum, order and judgment.

B. Pre-Trial Discussion of the Statute of Limitations

Concerns about the statute of limitations were raised by the court at the outset of these
proceedings. At the defendants’ bail hearing on July 7, 2005, and again at an August 9, 2005
status conference, the court pressed the government on the statute of limitations issue,
emphasizing the apparently “thin” connection between the New York and Nevada acts. Tr. of
July 7, 2005 bail hearing 65-69; Tr. of Aug. 9, 2005 status conf. 4-7. At the August 9
conference, the court also enquired why the government had chosen not to charge the murders
directly under section 1958 of Title 18 of the United States Code or similar statutes that might
apply without a statute of limitations bar.

At both the bail hearing and the August 9 conference, the government maintained that it
would be able to establish that the New York and Nevada acts were part of a pattern of
racketeering activity and that, even if it were not able to establish such a pattern, it could avoid a
statute of limitations problem by proving that the defendants’ involvement in the underlying
conspiracy had continued to beyond the statute of limitations bar.

At the August 9 conference, the government stated that it was looking into a possible
charge of murder under section 1958. No such charge was ever brought, despite repeated

superseding indictments.
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In papers filed on October 25, 2005, defendants moved to dismiss the racketeering
conspiracy charge under Rule 12(b) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure on the grounds
that the government had failed to sufficiently allege either the pattern or enterprise elements
required by section 1962 and that the government’s failure to sufficiently allege the pattern
element implicated the five-year statute of limitations.

Although the court again emphasized the possibility of a statute of limitations problem if
the government’s proof at trial failed to establish the continuation of the conspiracy after the
time of the New York acts, it denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss the charge. Recognizing
the limitations of a criminal Rule 12 test of the facial sufficiency of an indictment, the court
noted that a validly composed grand jury had handed down a valid indictment in the case and
concluded that the case had to proceed to trial to permit the government to attempt to support its
factual theory. Tr. of Dec. 1, 2005 mot. hearing 37, 39-40. Given the nature of the
charges—which, as the court noted, raised “serious doubts about the Police Department and its
fiduciary relationship to the public”—a full and fair trial was necessary not only for the
defendants, who were entitled to put the government to its proof in order to protect their
reputations against such “grave” insinuations, but for the public itself. Id. at 40.

The defendants also moved to dismiss the substantive Nevada charges on the grounds
that they could not be tried in this district because of improper venue. Defendants waived their
venue objection once the court indicated that it was denying their motion to dismiss the

racketeering charge.
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C. Trial
Trial began with jury selection on March 8, 2006. Opening arguments took place on

March 13 and 14, 2006. The trial lasted three weeks, with closing arguments on April 3 and 4.

1. Government’s Evidence at Trial
The government’s evidence at trial consisted of the testimony of thirty-four witnesses,
many documents, and several audio and video recordings. The government’s overwhelming
case was skillfully presented with credible witnesses and supporting interlocking documents and
other proof of each of the racketeering acts charged.
A summary of some of the key testimony and other evidence against the defendants is

outlined below.

a. Evidence of the New York Acts
i. Testimony of Burton Kaplan

The government’s key witness was Burton Kaplan, a career criminal and former
associate of the Lucchese crime family. Having pled guilty to participation in the charged
racketeering conspiracy, Kaplan testified convincingly and methodically about the formation of
the conspiracy and the New York acts.

Kaplan testified that his criminal relationship with Eppolito and Caracappa began when
Frank Santoro Jr., Eppolito’s cousin and a former fellow inmate of Kaplan’s at Allenwood
federal prison, offered to sell Kaplan confidential law enforcement information to be obtained by
the two defendants. Kaplan initially turned down this offer, but he later contacted Santoro and

asked for help when, in 1986, he desired to have a criminal associate killed.

9
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Santoro told Kaplan that he, Eppolito and Caracappa could carry out the murder contract,
Kaplan agreed to pay 25,000 dollars. He gave Santoro all of the information he had on the man
he wanted killed, a jeweler named Israel Greenwald. Because Kaplan could not remember
Greenwald’s name, throughout his testimony he referred to Greenwald as “jeweler number two.”

A short time after Santoro made the deal, he reported to Kaplan that Greenwald had been
killed. According to Santoro’s account to Kaplan, Santoro, Eppolito and Caracappa drove up
behind Greenwald’s car, turned on a flashing light and pulled Greenwald over, telling him that
they had to take him in for questioning regarding a hit and run accident. After Greenwald agreed
to accompany them, they took him to a garage in Brooklyn, where Santoro shot him. Santoro
told Kaplan that he had disposed of the body and that neither Eppolito nor Caracappa knew
where the body was. Although Kaplan did not know Eppolito or Caracappa at the time of
Greenwald’s murder, he testified that a few years later, after he began dealing directly with the
defendants, the three of them discussed the murder and Kaplan’s payment.

The defendants’ entry into a criminal enterprise with Kaplan and Santoro was solidified
when, in the fall of 1986, Anthony “Gaspipe” Casso, a “made” member of the Lucchese crime
family, was shot while sitting in a car in Brooklyn, eating an ice cream cone. Casso, a close
associate of Kaplan’s in a variety of criminal activities, survived the shooting. He wanted
revenge. Kaplan told Casso about Santoro’s law enforcement source and then, at Casso’s
request, asked Santoro if Eppolito and Caracappa could obtain any information about who was
responsible for the shooting. At the time, Eppolito worked in the Sixty-Third Precinct, where
Casso was shot.

Santoro subsequently delivered a packet of information to Kaplan for Casso, stating that

it was a “‘gift,” and that Eppolito and Caracappa would take no money for it. Kaplan testified
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that he opened the packet and saw information on, and a picture of, James Hydell; the names of
Nicholas Guido and others; and law enforcement documents regarding Casso’s attempted
murder.

Kaplan gave the packet to Casso, who declared that he would try to kill the men who had
been involved in the shooting. Casso also said that he wanted to question James Hydell before
he was killed, so that he could find out who had ordered the attempt on his life. Kaplan
informed Casso of the Greenwald murder. Then, at Casso’s request, Kaplan asked Santoro if he,
Eppolito and Caracappa would take a contract to kidnap Hydell and deliver him to Casso.
Santoro accepted on behalf of all three men. Casso agreed to pay 35,000 dollars for the crime.

After driving around Staten Island and Brooklyn looking for Hydell, the defendants
found him in a Brooklyn Jaundromat and told him he was under arrest. Hydell was bound,
placed in the trunk of a car, and delivered by Santoro to the parking lot of a Toys “R” Us store
on Flatbush Avenue, where Casso and Kaplan were waiting. Santoro gave the car keys to
Kaplan, who gave them to Casso. Casso later reported to Kaplan that he interrogated and killed
Hydell, hiding his body in order to deny his family the benefit of his life insurance.

Both Eppolito and Caracappa followed Santoro to the Toys “R” Us on the day of
Hydell’s kidnaping and waited for him at the end of a driveway, about 200 to 250 feet from
where Casso, Kaplan and Santoro were standing. Kaplan testified that he remembered seeing
them there. As with Greenwald’s murder, Kaplan did not then know defendants. At the time, all
of his information about the Hydell abduction came through Santoro. Kaplan testified that he
later had a conversation with the defendants in which they discussed the details of Hydell’s

kidnaping and Casso’s payment for the crime.
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Having killed Hydell, Casso asked Kaplan if he could get more information on Nicholas
Guido, another of the names included in the packet Santoro had given to Kaplan. Kaplan talked
to Santoro, who said that Eppolito could do it, but that he wanted 4,000 dollars for the job.
Because he thought the request was greedy, Casso refused the deal, obtaining information on
Guido from other sources.

On December 25, 1986, on orders from Casso, a man named “Nicholas Guido” was
killed outside of his house. The Nicholas Guido who was killed was not, however, the Nicholas
Guido who had helped carry out the attempt on Casso’s life. He was an innocent twenty-five
year old with no connection to organized crime. Kaplan testified that he later had a conversation
with Eppolito about Guido’s murder, during which Eppolito told him that if Casso had chosen to
pay the 4,000 dollars he would have gotten the “right” Nicholas Guido.

Casso later tried to kill the rest of the people he believed were involved in his attempted
murder, including Gambino family members Bobby Boriello, “Mickey Boy” Paradisio and
Eddie Lino. Casso obtained these names through his interrogation of James Hydell. Kaplan
testified that the defendants were initially given a contract to kill Boriello, but that it was taken
away from them after they were observed by another detective while surveilling Boricllo. At the
same time, the defendants took a contract to kill Sammy Gravano, who Casso believed had
authorized the shooting, but that contract was cancelled when the defendants were unable to
fulfill it.

In September of 1987, Santoro was killed. Kaplan then began to deal directly with
Eppolito and Caracappa. In response to a phone call from Santoro’s widow, Kaplan met
Eppolito at Santoro’s house, where Eppolito introduced himself and then proposed a deal: he and

Caracappa would provide law enforcement information to Kaplan in exchange for a retainer,
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payable at the rate of 4,000 dollars each month. Eppolito told Kaplan that Caracappa worked in
an organized crime task force and that he had access to a significant amount of information
about investigations into organized crime. Kaplan testified that when he left Santoro’s house
after this meeting, he saw Caracappa sitting in a car in the driveway, watching the house.

Kaplan discussed Eppolito’s proposal with Casso and then accepted on Casso’s behalf,
Although the deal was made with Kaplan rather than with Casso—according to Kaplan, the
defendants never even met Casso—Kaplan testified that the defendants knew that he would pass
their information to Casso. Kaplan described Casso’s reputation at the time as that of a
“homicidal maniac.”

Kaplan testified that from 1987 until roughly 1993, when Casso had been arrested and
Caracappa had retired, Eppolito and Caracappa were paid 4,000 dollars a month to supply law
enforcement information regarding ongoing investigations, informants, wiretaps and impending
arrests. Information provided by the defendants pursuant to this arrangement included
information about a number of government informants, including Peter Savino, John “Otto”
Heidel, and Dominic Costa. As a result of this information, Casso ordered both Heidel and
Costa murdered. Heidel was killed on October 8, 1987. Costa was shot in the head, but
survived.

Throughout the course of his “employment” of the defendants, Casso, through Kaplan,
requested information from them regarding the locations of various Lucchese family members
he wanted killed but could not find, including Anthony Dilapi and Anthony Acceturo. Kaplan
testified that Eppolito and Caracappa supplied two addresses in Los Angeles for Dilapi, allowing
the Lucchese family to locate and murder him. The defendants supplied three addresses for

Acceturo, but Casso’s “hit squads” were never able to kill him. Casso also requested a copy of
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the prison visiting list for Lucchese boss Chris Furnari, which the defendants provided.
According to Kaplan, Casso, who had by that time been “promoted” to acting underboss, wanted
to know if anyone from any other part of the Lucchese family was trying to gain power in
Furnari’s absence.

Kaplan testified about two instances in the late 1980s where the defendants provided him
with information about listening devices placed on the phone line of a business run by associates
of organized crime and a restaurant frequented by associates of organized crime. In both cases
Kaplan passed the information on to Casso, who informed the relevant persons. According to
Kaplan, Eppolito later came back and told him that the people at the business had acted too fast
to remove the wiretap, because law enforcement had gotten a picture of a man climbing the
telephone pole to remove it. Eppolito advised that it would have been better for the targets of the
wiretap to continue to talk on the phone line, but only about legitimate topics.

Sometime early in 1990, Eppolito retired from the New York City police department.
Nevertheless, he and Caracappa continued to work with Kaplan and, through Kaplan, Casso.
Kaplan testified about a number of acts committed by the defendants after Eppolito’s retirement.

In May of 1990, Eppolito called Kaplan and said he needed to see him immediately.
Kaplan met with Eppolito, who told him that a number of organized crime figures—including
Anthony Casso and Vic Amuso, the acting boss of the Lucchese family—were about to be
arrested in connection with an investigation into corruption in the window industry. Eppolito
said he had gotten this information from Caracappa. Kaplan informed Amuso and Amuso
contacted Casso to inform him of the impending arrest. Both Amuso and Casso then fled.
Kaplan testified that even after Casso “went on the lam,” Kaplan maintained contact with him

and continued to pass law enforcement information to him from the defendants.
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In August of 1990, the defendants told Kaplan that Bruno Facciola, a loanshark and
Lucchese capo from the Canarsie section of Brooklyn, was cooperating with the government.

On Casso’s orders, members of the Lucchese family murdered Facciola. Soon after Facciola’s
murder, Eppolito reported to Kaplan that word was going around that Facciola’s associates,
including Al Visconti and Larry Taylor, wanted revenge for his murder and had discussed
murdering Amuso and Casso, among others, as retribution. Kaplan passed this information on to
Casso. Visconti and Taylor were killed.

Kaplan testified that this was not the first time he had discussed Facciola with Eppolito.
Earlier in their relationship, Eppolito had told Kaplan that a friend of his who had an auto repair
business owed Facciola money and was having some problems. Eppolito asked if Kaplan could
have Casso speak with Facciola and take some of the pressure off of his friend. Kaplan said that
he had talked to Casso about the matter and that Facciola had agreed to do what Casso asked.

According to Kaplan, the defendants took two murder contracts after Eppolito retired
from the police department, one on behalf of Anthony Casso and one on behalf of Kaplan
himself.

In November of 1990, the defendants carried out a 65,000 dollar contract to kill Gambino
family capo Eddie Lino, who Casso believed had been involved in the attempt on his life four
years earlier. Kaplan was in the hospital at the time of the shooting. He testified that Eppolito
came to him late one night during his hospital stay, woke him up, and told him that he had “good
news.” Allowing Lino to believe that they were acting as police officers, the defendants had
pulled him over while he was driving along the Shore Parkway, walked over to his car, and shot
him in the head several times. Eppolito told Kaplan that Caracappa had been the shooter,

because he was “‘a much better shot.”
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The contract that the defendants took for Kaplan involved Herman Tabek, a man who
had been involved with Kaplan in schemes involving stolen treasury bonds and stolen checks.
When Tabek reportedly began cooperating with the authorities regarding the stolen checks,
Kaplan contracted with the defendants to have him killed. According to Kaplan, the defendants
attempted to kill Tabek—using the same pretense of “arrest” that had worked in the past—but
failed when Tabek realized what was going on and broke free. Because the murder attempt
apparently frightened Tabek, leading him to stop cooperating with law enforcement, Kaplan did
not try to have Tabek killed again. As with Israel Greenwald, Kaplan could not recall Tabek’s
name, and referred to him as “jeweler number one” throughout his testimony.

Kaplan provided convincing details about his methods of communicating and meeting
with the defendants throughout his acquaintance with them. In the years after Santoro’s death,
when Kaplan began working directly with the defendants, Kaplan met primarily with Eppolito,
although he met occasionally with both men together. Kaplan described the men’s various
meeting places as including rest stops on the Southern State Parkway and Long Island
Expressway, a cemetery near Caracappa’s mother’s home on Staten Island, Kaplan’s house in
Brooklyn, and, on one occasion, the apartment of Eppolito’s mistress.

At some point in late 1988 or 1989, Kaplan and Eppolito had a falling out because
Eppolito wanted more money and thought that he should meet Anthony Casso. About a month
after this argument, Caracappa came to Kaplan’s house with a box of cookies and suggested that
the two of them talk about continuing their arrangement. Caracappa then became the
defendants’ main contact with Kaplan until Kaplan and Eppolito’s relationship was repaired.
Kaplan testified that the two men met more than once at Caracappa’s apartment on East 22nd

Street in Manhattan.
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According to Kaplan, he and the two defendants disguised their communications with
each other through the use of pagers and code numbers. They also referred to each other by a
code name, “Marco.” A copy of Kaplan’s address book with three entries under the name
“Marco” was admitted. One of the numbers listed—“981-3235"—matched a number given for
“Lou” in Frank Santoro’s address book. The government introduced a letter from the telephone
company, dated December 8, 1993, stating that “516-981-3235” was Louis Eppolito’s phone
number. Another number listed—"“917-616-0631"—was one of three pager numbers for the
14th Street Union Square Local Development Corporation, where Caracappa worked for a time
after retiring from the police department. The final number listed—*420-0150"—matched a
number given by Caracappa on his police department information card and his application for a
pistol permit. The government also admitted Caracappa’s phone list, which included numbers
for an “Uncle Lou,” an “Uncle Frank™ and an “Uncle Marco.”

Kaplan also provided details about the methods used by the co-conspirators to carry out
their crimes. For example, Kaplan testified that he provided the defendants with cars that
resembled unmarked police cars on a few occasions in order to avoid their having to use vehicles
that could be traced to them. He also testified that Caracappa admitted to him that, to avoid
inquiry or investigation by his supervisors at the police department, he would surreptitiously run
the names of individuals whose information he was going to provide to Kaplan together with the
names of legitimate targets of police investigations. According to Kaplan, Caracappa reported to

Kaplan that he did the same thing when requesting Chris Furnari’s prison visiting list.

17



Case 1:05-cr-00192-JBW  Document 380 Filed 06/30/2006 Page 18 of 102

ii. Testimony of Peter Franzone

Government witness Peter Franzone, the former owner of the Brooklyn garage where
Isracl Greenwald’s body was found, testified about Greenwald’s murder and about racketeering
act five, the murder of an unidentified man. Franzone’s connection to these crimes arose
through his acquaintance with Frank Santoro, Jr., who frequented his garage, towing and auto
body shop. Through Santoro, Franzone was also acquainted with defendant Eppolito, who
rented a parking spot in Franzone’s lot.

With regard to the murder of Isracl Greenwald, Franzone testified that one afternoon in
1985 or 1986, Eppolito pulled into an open parking spot in the 1ot and parked his car. At the
same time, Santoro walked into the lot with two men that Franzone did not know. The three men
walked into one of the empty individual parking garages in the lot and closed the door. Twenty
minutes to a half an hour later, the garage door opened and Santoro and one of the men walked
out. As the two men exited the lot, Eppolito, who had been sitting in his car in a position where
he could observe the parking garage, pulled his car out of the parking space and drove away.

Franzone testified at length about the layout of the lot and his ability to observe the
events he was describing. The lighting was good and Franzone’s view of the three men was
unobstructed as they walked to and from the parking garage. According to Franzone, the man
who did not come back out of the garage had a beard and a skull cap. The man who did was
wearing a trench coat and had his collar pulled up to cover part of his face; Franzone described
him as a white man with dark hair, a moustache, and a pockmarked face. He said that he later
saw this man again, standing next to Eppolito at a “Sweet Sixteen” party for Santoro’s daughter.

Shortly after Santoro, Eppolito, and the man in the trench coat left the lot, Santoro came

back and took Franzone into the parking garage he had just exited. There, Franzone saw the
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body of the man in the skull cap laying against the wall. Santoro told Franzone that he had to
help bury the body, and that if he didn’t, Santoro would kill him and his family. Franzone
described the burial in great detail. Although there were inconsistencies between Franzone’s
testimony and the testimony of other witnesses regarding the state of Greenwald’s body—such
as the fact that Franzone did not remember that the man’s hands were bound and that plastic
bags had been put over his head—much of Franzone’s testimony about the manner in which
Greenwald was buried was corroborated by Dr. Bradley Adams, a forensic anthropologist
involved in exhuming the body.

Franzone also testified about another murder committed by Santoro and three associates
in his collision shop. After entering the collision shop to help Santoro adjust the heat, Franzone
saw two of Santoro’s associates wrapping up the victim’s body in a light colored cloth and
helped them place it in the trunk of a car. As in the case of Greenwald’s murder, Eppolito pulled
into Franzone’s lot, sat in his car outside the collision shop during the course of the murder, and
left when Santoro did, after the body had been wrapped and placed in the trunk. This murder
was charged against Eppolito as racketeering act five.

During the course of his testimony about racketeering act five, Franzone was shown a
photograph of an unidentified body found in front of a church in Brooklyn in 1987 and testified
that the body shown there resembled the body he had seen that day. The body in the photograph
was wrapped in a white sheet and plastic bag and was tied in a manner matching Franzone’s
description. Retired New York City police detective Sylvia Cantwell testified about the
discovery of this body.

In March of 2005, Franzone was approached by federal agents investigating the murder

of Frank Santoro, Jr. After contacting a lawyer—Alan Aberson, chosen from the yellow
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